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UNITED STATES DISTRCT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OH.OUISIANA

GREATER NEW ORLEANS FAIR CIVIL ACTION
HOUSING ACTION CENTER

VERSUS NO. 18-8177
JERRYW.KELLY, JR., ET AL. SECTION “R” (2)

ORDER AND REASONS

Before the Court iddefendants’ motion to dismiss the case under
Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)j&and 12(b)(6), or in the alternative
to strike sections of the complainfThe Court finds that (1) plaintiff has
sufficiently allegel it has standing to bring this actiof®) plaintiff's factual
allegations are sufficient to stagachofits claims, and3) the paragraphs in
the complaint to which defendants object are rakva plaintiff's claims.

Defendants’motion is therefore denied.

l. BACKGROUND
A. Plaintiff’s Initial Investigation
This case arises from allegationssef«basedhousingdiscrimination.!

Plaintiff, the Greater New Orleans Fair HousiAction Center alleges that

1 R. Doc. 1.
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defendant Jerry W. Kelly, Jr., the owner andhoanager of multiple rental
properties throughout the New Orleans atdags discriminated against
tenantson the basis atheir sex3

Plaintiff asserts that it first became awarfeallegatiors of sexbased
discrimination againselly in March 2017after seeing statements from his
former and current tenants in a al media housingelated forum’4 In
the forum, some of Kelly’'s former female tenantsegédly detailed how Kelly
exhibited “sexually harassing behavior” towarderth including by making
“sexual propositions” and “unauthorized and unanmead entry into their
apartments> Then,in August 2017, a “formeteasing agent” for Kelly's
rental propertiesallegedly contacted plaintifto report that Kelly had
engaged in a “pattern of sd»ased discrimination¢”The agat allegedly told
plaintiff thatshe observed Kelly turn away more qualified merorder to
rent towomen, and that Kellpreferred to rent to “young, skinny, white”
girls.” The agent also allegedly told plaintiff storiessmilar to those

recounted in the social media forsmamelythat Kellyharassedhis female
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tenants by making sexual proposii®mand unauthorized and unannounced
entry into their apartments.

Plaintiff statesthat it then conducted interviews with two of Kedly
former female tenants.The first former tenartwhom plaintiff refers to as
“A.B.” —allegedly sad thatall six of the units in her building were rented to
women, and thakKelly specificallytold her herents to womeronly.10 AB.
also allegety reportedthat Kelly told her he would reduce her rent if Shet
him up on a date” with one of her female friesifl According to plaintiff, he
second former tenantB.C.,” alleged that when she met with Kelly to sign
her lease agreement, Kelly told her he returnedihgral phone callonly
because he believed she was attractive based osothred of her voiceand
that he would not have rented to her had he kndwevgas married? B.C.
also allegedly told plaintiff that Kelly grabbedeh buttocks without her
consent during this meetirntg.Finally, B.C.allegedy told plaintiff that Kelly
repeatedly entered hapartment without warning and without her consent,

including once when she was in the shower.

8 Id. T 29.
9 Id. T 31.
10 Id. at 8 1 3233.
1 Id. 1 36.

12 Id. at 9 M 39-40.
13 Id.at 81 38.
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B. Plaintiff’s Testers

Plaintiff asserts that after compiling theformation from theonline
forum, theformer kasing agent, and thlermer terants, it decided to
commence a series of testsassess whether Kelly was engaging mawful
discrimination?s In April and May 2017, and then again in Octoberl20
plaintiff allegedly sentdifferent pairs of prospective rentersach pair
consisting of one male and onenfaletestero inquire about renting one
of Kelly’s units advertised as availab¥e.

1 Test 1

On April 26, 2017, female testérlallegedly called Kelly at the phone
number included on a rental listifgr 4233 Fatainebleau Drive in New
Orleans'” According to plaintiff, the advertisementisted apartment
number 7at this addresas availablgs Plaintiffasserts that Kelly answered
the call and arranged fdemale teste# 1 to view theunit on April 291° On
April 27, one day after female testeicalled,male teste# lallegedly called

the same phone numblgsted in the advertisement Kelly allegedlydid not
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answer thiscal, and the male testdeft a voicanail message stating his
interest in the advertised apartment and askindyKel call him back2l
Plaintiff states that Kellpever returned the male tester’s voicenzail.

On April 29, female teste#1 and herfemale companiorallegedly
viewed therental unit unaccompanied by KelBg Plaintiff allegesthat
female tester #1 contacted Kelafter viewng the apartmentand Kelly
invited her to meet with him to discuss the unit and reviawental
application?4 Plaintiff asserts thatuting this meeting, female testgéfiand
her friendobserved Kelly “openly staring at their bodies ambbling his lip
as he looked at [female tester #18gs.?> According to plaintiff,female
tester#1 and her friend reported feeling unsafe during tamcounters
Plaintiff states thaafter this meetindemale tester #1 did not contagelly
again?7

2. Test2
On May3, 2017 female teste# 2 allegedly called Kelly tonquire about

4233 FatainebleaWrive apartment number, Which was still advertised as

21 Id.
22 Id. at 11 9 56.
23 Id.at 10 1 48.

24 Id. 7 49.
25 Id.at 11 9 53.
26 Id. 1 54.
27 Id. 7 55.



available?s Plaintiff states that Kelly answered the phared arranged to
meet with the female tester to tour taeit the following day?® According
to plaintiff, two hours aftefemale teste#2’s call,male teste# 2 called the
same numbe?® Kelly allegedlydid not answethe call and the male tester
left a voicemail message asking Kelly to call hirack3® On May 4, 2017,
female teste#2 and her female companiorallegedlymet Kelly at 4233
FontainebleauDrive.32 Plaintiff alleges that Kellgxplained that apartment
number 7had been rented, but that he could shbem apartment number
3, which was availablés

Plaintiff asserts thatroMay 9, 2017, sidays after his first calinale
tester#2tried again to contact Kell§# Kelly allegedlyanswered th@hone,
and arranged to meatale teste#2the fdlowing day to view aunitat 4233
FontainebleauDrive.35 Kelly allegedly instructed the male tester to call him
the following morning to confirm the appointmet#tThe next morningnale

tester#2 allegedlycalled Kellytwo different timesbut Kelly did not answer

28 Id. at 12 7 58.

29 Id.
30 Id. 1 59.
31 Id.
32 Id. 7 61.
33 Id. 1 62.
34 Id. 1 63.
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either call3” Plaintiff asserts that ale teste# 2left Kelly voicemails on both
calls, but Kelly never responded to theessage8 Male tester#2 was
allegedlynever able to tour an available u#it.
3. Test3

According to plaintiff, m the same day that Kelly did not respond to
thevoicemail messages fno male tester & confirming their appointment,
female tester#3 called Kelly to imuire aboutthe listing for apartment
number 7at 4233 Fatainebleawrive.40 Kelly allegedly answered her call
andmade an appointment for her to view an availabrapent4! Two days
later,female teste#3and hefemale conpanion toured apartment number
3 with Kelly, the same unit he showed to female testef#PRlaintiff asserts
that while they wereviewing the apartment, Kelly “slammed the door st
the apartment,whichmade both womenoncerred for their safety? After
Kelly providedfemale teste#3 with an application, she allegedly told Kelly

that she planned to view other apartmettts.

37 Id. at 13 1 6468.
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According to plaintiff, shortly aftefemale teste#3 met with Kelly,
male tester#3 contacted Kellyto ask about theapartmentat 4233
FontainebleaWrive advertised as availahfée Kelly allegedly told thenale
tester that the unit had already been rended ended the calf Kelly
allegedlydid not tellmale teste##3 aboutany other available units in the
same buildingas he had for female testers #2 and*#Bhree days after this
phonecall with male teste# 3, Kelly allegedly contacted female testeraiti
told her that apartment numbera?® 4233 FontainebleaDrive was still
available4® On that same day, a ndemale testeallegedlycontacted Kelly
and left him a voicemail asking aboutaalable rentalait 4233 Fontainebleau
Drive.49 Severaldays later, Kelly called the tester backnd left her a
voicemail stating hewas returning her call regarding a unit at 4233
FontairebleauDrive.50

4. Test4
On October 3, 2017emale teste# 4 allegedlyleft Kelly a voicemail

messaganquiring about an advertised unit at 7927 Birchre®t in New

45 Id. at 1415 79.
46 Id.at 15 1 80.

47 Id.
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49 Id. 1 82.
50 Id. 9 83.



Orleans?! Plaintiff asserts thaKelly returned her message the following
morning, andhatthey eventually arranged for the female testeri¢avvthe
apartment on October, @t noon32 On October 5male tester #4 allegedly
contacted Kelly to inquire about the same advedtigait>3 Kelly allegedly
answered the phone call, and made an appointmenth& male tester to
view the unit on October 6 at 2 p.m., tv@urs after female tester #4's
appointmen®* According to plaintiff Kelly instructed the male tester to call
him on the morningf their appointment to confirm &

Plaintiff asserts that durinfgemale teste#4’s tour of the unitKelly
told her she was “an all grown up woman” and thHed was too “pristinerad
together” to live at that proper®f When the female tester inquiradbout
the application process, Kelly allegedly told hbatshe need only fill out a
rental application, and thdte would forgo the usual credit check because
she was a “grown woman” wh'dooked like she was valedictorian at her

college”s?

51 Id. 7 84.
52 Id. at 1516 9 8586.
53 Id.at 16 1 87.

54 Id.
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On that samemorning, male tester#4 allegedly followed Kelly's
Instructions and contacted him to confirm their apggment>8 According
to plaintiff, the male tester was unable to reach Kelly utete in the
afternoonat which pointkelly told himthathe could noshow the testethe
unit that day ashey hadplanned3® Kelly allegedly agreed to show the unit
to the male tester three days from the date of theigimally scheduled
appointment® Plaintiff asserts that ro the day of their rescheduled
appointmentKelly allegedly left a key formale teste#4 in the mailbox at
the unit,and instructed hinmo view the apartment on his ovwh.Plaintiff
asserts thamale teste# 4 later called Kelly to inquire about the application
process? Kelly allegedly told himthat they could meet in two days to discuss
the process, and that the male tester should Hrisgriver’s license, proof
of employment, current lease, and a deposit check$®50¢63 Plaintiff

alleges that Kelly never followed up withale teste#4 afterthis call84

58 Id. at 1617 1 93.
59 Id. at 17 91 9497.

60 Id. 1 98.
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C. Plaintiff's Complaint and Subsequent Developments

On August 28, 2018, plaintiff filed this cogmhint in federal court
against(1) Kelly; (2) 4233 Fotainebleau Dr NOLA LLG5 (3) 7927 %2 Birch
St NOLA LLC;8% and (4) Investment Properties of J&LLLC,57 alleging
violations of the Fair Housing AdFHA) and the Louisiana Equal Housing
Opportunity Acté8 Plaintiff alleges that defendants (1) refused totrand
made housing unavailable to a person on the bdsiex (2) discriminated
against a peson in the terms, conditions, and privileges oftreg housing
on the basis of sex, and (3) made statements itidgaental preferences,
limitations, and discrimination based upon $&x. Plaintiff seeks a
declaratory judgment that defendants have vedatederal and state law,

and an injunctionenjoining defendantsfrom discriminating against any

65 4233 Fontainebleau Dr NOLA LLC is allegedly the nager of the
property comprising the rental units at 4233 Fonédileau Drive.ld. at 5
15.

66 7927 Y2 Birch St NOLA LLC is allegedly the managértive property
comprising the rental units at 7927 Birch Streket. T 16.

67 Investment Properties of J&L, LLC is allegedly themary officer and
manager of both 4233 Fontainebleau Dr NOLA LLC afe®7 Y2 Birch St
NOLALLC. Id.at 6 {1 2422.

68 Seeidat 1, 1921,

69 Id. at 19-21.
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person on the basis of sé&«. Plaintiff also seekgompensatory damages,
punitive damages, and costs and attorney’s fees.

On September 27, 2018, defendamtsved to dismiss the complaira.
Defendants argue that plaintiff does not have sitagdo brings its claims,
and thatplaintiff failsto state a claim upon which relief can be granteth
the alternative, defendants move to strike cersaictions of the complairnt.

On December 19, 2018, plaintiff filed a supplemdwrtanplaint’> The
supplemental complaint repeats all of the allegadim the initial complaint,
and includes adtional allegations containingtatements Kelly allegedly
made to a newsgper reportein August 2018-after plaintiff filed itsfirst
complaint but before defendants filed their motimndismiss’® Plaintiff
asserts that Kelly stated, in reference to a proplee owns at 2324 Calhoun
Street in New Orleans, that he ‘like[s] t@ep it with just girls at that
building.””” Defendants filed a renewed motion to dismiss oiketron

January 2, 2019, asserting that Kelly's allegedtesteents in the

70 Id. at 2223.

71 Id. at 23.
2 R. Doc. 9.
73 R. Doc. 91.
74 Id.

75 R. Doc. 24.
76 Id.

w Id.at 1819 1 109; R. Doc. 24 at 3.
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supplemental complaint do not support an inferetiad defendants have

violated fedeal or state law?8

Il. LEGAL STANDARD

A. Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(bJj1)

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(1) governaldnges to a coud’
subject matter jurisdiction®A case is properly dismissed for lack of subject
matter jurisdiction when the court lacks the statytor constitutional
power to adjudicate the case-fome Builders Ass’of Miss., Inc. v. City of
Madison 143 F.3d 1006, 1010 (5th Cir1998) (quoting Nowak v.
Ironworkers Local 6 Pension Fund1l F.3d 1182, 1187 (2d Cid996)).
“Courts may dismiss for lack of subject matter gadiction on any one of
three bases: (1) the complaint alone; (2) the camplsupplemented by
undisputed facts in the recarar (3) the complaint supplemented by
undisputed facts plus the court’s resolution ofpdited facts.” Clark v.
Tarrant County 798 F.2d 736, 741 (5th Cid986) (citingWilliamson v.
Tucker, 645 F.2d 404, 413 (5th Cit981)). Furthermore, plaintiff bears the
burden of demonstrating that subject matter jugsdn exists. See

Paterson v. Weinberge644 F.2d 521, 523 (5th Cit981).

8 R. Doc. 25; R. Doc. 28.
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B. FederalRule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6

To survive a Rule 12(b)(6notion, a partymust plea “sufficient
factual matter, accepted as true, to ‘state a claimelief that is plausible on
its face.” Ashcroft v. Igbal556 U.S. 662,678 (2009) (quotiBgll Atl. Corp.

v. Twombly 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007)). Aclaim is fatygplausible when

the partypleads facts that allow the court to “draw the @eable inference
that the defendans liable for the misconduct allegedltl. at 678. A court
must accept all welpleaded facts as true and must draw all reasonable
inferences in favor of theanmoving party See Lormand v. US Unwired,
Inc., 565 F.3d 228, 232 (5th Cir. 2009).

A legally sufficient complaint must establish motkean a “sheer
possibility” that the party claim is true.lgbal, 556 U.S. at 678. It need not
contain detailed factuaallegations, but it must go beyond labels, legal
conclusions, or formulaic recitations of the elerteeof a cause of actiorid.

In other words, the face of the complaint must @menough factual matter
to raise a reasonable expectation that discowdll reveal relevant evidence
of each element of the paidylaim. Lormand 565 F.3d at 257. The claim
must be dismissed if there are insufficient factalédgations to raise a right

to relief above the speculative lev@8lwombly, 550 U.S. at 555, roif it is
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apparent from the face of the complaint that thisran insuperable bar to

relief, Jones v. Bock549 U.S. 199, 215 (2007).

1. DISCUSSION

A. Motion to Dismiss

1 Standing

In any suit in federal court, the issue of standpngsents a “threshold
jurisdictional question.’Steel ©. v. Citizens for a Better Eny523 U.S. 83,
102 (1998). The requirement that aapty have standing to su®ws from
Article Ill of the Constitution, which limits thecepe of the federal judicial
power to the adjudication of “cases” or “controviess” U.S. Const. art. IlI,
8 2. Standing consists of three elements: (1) the pifiimust have suffered
an ‘injury-in-fact,” which is an invasiownf a legally protected interest that is
“‘concrete and particularized” and “actual or immmt'e (2) the injury must
be “fairly traceable” to the challenged conducttioé defendant; and (3) it
must be likely that plaintif§ injury will be redressed by avorable judicial
decision. Lujan v. Defs. of Wildlife504 U.S. 555, 560 (1992As the party
invoking federal jurisdictionplaintiff has the burden of establishing these

elements. Spokeo, Inc. v. Robind36 S. Ct. 1540, 1547 (2016)At the
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pleading stage, a plaintiff can satisfy this burden baglleg[ing] facts
demonstrating each elemémf standing.ld. (internal quotation omitted).
An organization such as the plaintiff in this case“can establish
standing in its own name if it meets the sast@nding test that applies to
individuals.” OCA-Greater Houstorv. Texas867 F.3d 604, 6105th Cir.
2017) see alsoHavens Realty Corp. v. Coleman55 U.S. 363378-79
(1982) Defendants contend that plaintiff has not sufficigralleged that it
has suffered an injurin-factand therefore does not have Articlestbnding
to bring its claims? Nonprofitorganizationcansufferan Article Il injury
whena defen@nt’s actiondrustrate theimissiorsand force them to “divert
significant resouces to counteract the defendant’s condu®.’/A.A.C.P. v.
City of Kyle, Texa$26 F.3d 233, 238 (5th Cir. 2010) (citingavensRealty
Corp. 455 U.S. at 379 OCA-Greater Houston 867 F.3d at 612. For
instance, the FifthCircuit has heldthat an organkation devoted to
promoting civic participation among Chinese andafsiPacific Americans
suffered an Article Il injury when it diverted iteesourcedo educate the
community about how to avoid tredlegeddiscriminatory effects of a Texas

voting law. OCA-Greater Houston867 F.3d at 612.

79 R. Doc. 91 at 25.
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Here, plaintiff alleges that it has been injurecddese defendants have
frustrated its mission of combating housing disanation in the New
Orleans community? Specifically, plaintiff alleges it has expended
resources, including “staff timena organizational funds,” téengage in
education and outreach activities to counteract défiects of defendants’
alleged discriminatio$! These activities allegedly include creating and
circulating brochures and advesgments addressing sex discrimination and
sexual harassment in housing, as well as makingegr&tions on these
topics to student groups. Plaintiff asserts that as a result of these
expenditures, it has been forced to divert resosiaaeay from otherlpanned
projects and activities, including (1) other invgstive initiatives; (2)
recruitment of financial sponsors fits annual fair housing summa#and (3)
development and publication of new fair housing emtional materialg3
This diversion of reswrces has allegedly caused plaintiff to suffer eéased
funding and a delay in providing its usual educa#b services to the

communitys4

80 R. Doc. 1at 18 § 104.

81 Id. 1 105.

82 Id.

83 Id. at 19 1 106.
84 Id.
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These factual allegations are sufficient to pleadAaticle 11l injury,
because plainff allegesthat it has diverted its resourcesvard education
and outreach activitiedo addressthe impact of defendand’ alleged
discriminatory practicesSeeid. at 610-12; Havens Realty Corp455 U.S.
at 379 (plaintiff sufficiently pleaded Article llinjury by alleging it *hal to
devote significant resources to identify and couateé the defendant’s
racially discriminatory steering practices”). Importantly, plaintiff
specifically alleges that undertook thesactivities tocounteract the effects
of defendants’alleged dismination,andnot to prepare for this litigatiofe.
SeeOCA-Greater Houston 867 F.3dat 611 (“It is fundamental that no
plaintiff may claim as injury the expense of prejarfor litigation, for then
the injuryin-fact requirement would pose no barrier.Rlaintiff has also
identifiedwith sufficient particularityother projects it has had to put on hold
or curtailin orderto address the impact defendantsalleged actionsH.e.,
preparing for its annualfiahousing summit and publishingew educational
materialsgé Cf. City of Kyle 626 F.3d at 238r(ling that plaintifflacked
standng in part because at trial ifailed to specify whatother specific

projects it had to put on holdo respond to defendant’s alleged

85 Id. at 18 § 105.
86 Id.at 19 1 106.
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discriminatory ordinande Finally, it is immaterial that this alleged ury
mayhaveamounedto only a minimal expendure of plaintiffs resources,
because an Article Ill injury “need not measure monan an identifiable
trifle.” OCA-Greater Houston867 F.3d a612 (quotingAssh of Cmty. Orgs.
for Reform Now v. Fowlerl78 F.3d 350, 358 (5th Cir. 1999Y)).
Defendantsely onLouisiana Acorn Fair Housing v. LeBlap211 F.3d
298 (5th Cir. 2000)to arguethat phintiff does not have standing. But that
decisionis inappositebecause it involved different procedural posture.
There, he Fifth Circuit vacated a jury’'s compensatory d@@esaawardfter
determining thathe plaintiff had failed to prove it had Articlél Istanding
at trial LeBlang 211 F.3d aB04-06. In doing so, the Fifth Circuépplied

the same standing principleésatthe Court applies todayecognizingthat

87 Plaintiff also allegeshatit has been injured because of its expenditures
on “witness interviews and testing” to “identify f@edants’ unlawful
discrimination.” Id. at 18 { 105.These expensegualify asan Article IlI
injury to the extent they were undertaken solelyidentify or confirm
defendants’ alleged discriminatory practices, andt no prepare for
litigation. See Havens Realty Corg55 U.S. at 379CA-Greater Houston
867 F.3d at 611City of Kyle 626 F.3d at 238 (plaintiff's expendituicd
$15,000 for a study on the impact of defendantlegeldly discriminatory
ordinance, which plaintiff then relied upon at tria prove the ordinance’s
disparate impact, was not an Article Il injurygpwler, 178 F.3d at 358
(compilation of statisticakvidence regarding the impact of an allegedly
discriminatory voter registration law, when put &blger “in connection”
with the lawsuit, was not an Article Ill injury).As already addressed,
plaintiff has sufficiently pleaded a constitomal injury evenwithout this
allegation.
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“an organization could have standing ifit had pgp\a drain on its resources
resulting from counteracting the effects of theedafant’s actions.”ld. at
305. But the Fifth Circuit founthat the plaintifffailed toproveat trialthat
counteracting the defendant’s alleged actions hadsed it to drain its
resources; instead, the plaintiff's executive diogis testimony regarding its
injury-in-fact was “conjectural, hypothetical, and specukativid. at 305
06. Because the cageereis merely at the plading stage, plaintiff need not
provethat its efforts have led to a dnaon its resources. Plaintiff need only
allege facts demonstrating each element of standapgpkeo, In¢136 S. Ct.
at 1547;Lujan, 504 U.S. at 56({the plaintiff must establish each element of
standing “with the manner and degree of evidengeir@d at the successive
stages of the litigation”)Plaintiff has met thisequiremenfor each element

of Article 11l standing8s

88 Defendants do not argue that plaintiff has failedatlege the second
and third elements of Article Il standirdhat defendants have caused
plaintiff's injuries and that a favorable decisimom the Court will redress
them. The Court finds that both elements have been sadisf Plaintiff
alleges that defendants’actions are the reasoasthad to expend additional
resources in its community, and it is selfident that an injunction from the
Court enjoining defendants from engaging in disgniatory practices would
allow plaintiff to cease those expenditures.
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2. Failure to State a Claim

Plaintiff has brought claims under #@w& provisions of the FHA42
U.S.C. 88 3604(a), (b), and fepand under analogous provisions of the
Louisiana Equal Housing Opportunity A&t.Defendantargue that plaintiff
has failed to state a claim dar either statuté?

a. 42U.S.C.§3604(and La. R.S.51:2606(A)(1)

Section 3604 (ag¢fthe FHAmMakes it unlawful “[t]o refuse to sell or rent
after the making of a bona fide offer, or to refusenegotiate for the sale or
rental of, or otherwisenake unavailable or deny, a dwelling to any person
because of race, color, religion, sex, familialtas or national origin.”42
U.S.C. 83604(a). Itis wellecognized that allegationsdiEparate treatment
of testers can be used to statelaimunderthe FHA Seeg e.g, Lincoln v.
Case 340 F.3d 283, 286 & 298th Cir. 2003)(telling white testers an
apartment is available but black testers that itnavailable wasvidence of
housing discrimination)Alexander v. Riga208 F.3d 419, 4332 (3dCir.

2000} Richardson v. Howardr12 F.2d 319, 3222 (7th Cir. 1983)see also

89 R.Doc. lat 1922.

90 R. Doc. 91 at 610. Because the language in the relevant sectwbns
the FHA and Louisiana Equal Housing Opportunity Acenearlyidentical,
the Court’s analysis of plaintiffs FHA claims apgd with equal force to its
claims under the state statut®ee Jackson v. ScpiNo. 076645, 2010 WL
11538701, at *1n.1(E.D. La. Jan. 14, 2010).
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Grantv. Smith574 F.2d 252, 254 n.3 (5th Cir. 1978) (“The uftesters has
been accepted by the courts, tacitly or expressdyan effective means of
obtaining evidencef discrimination.”y Havens Realty Corp455 U.S. at
368. Plaintiff alleges that Kelly refused toegotiate with the male testess
otherwise made housing unavailable to themviolation of 8§ 3604 (a)*
Plaintiff mustallege facts showinthat the teters’ sex wasone significant
factor’ motivating Kelly's actions WoodsDrake v. Lundy 667 F.2d 1198,
1202 (5th Cir. 1982).

Plaintiff has alleged sufficient factso state a claim under this
provision. In particular, paintiff alleges that when malester #3Xontacted
Kelly about the advertised listing at 4233 Rtainebleau Driveapartment
number 7, Kelly told the testethat the unit hd been rented? Kelly
allegedly did not tellthe male tester that anyeotinits in that buildingvere

available?3 But Kelly allegedly gave different information ttne female

91 R. Doc. 14 at 8.

92 R. Doc. 1at 15 1 80.

93 Id. According to plaintiff, Kelly did initially schedel an appointment
to show male tester #2 a unit at 4233 Fontaineb@ave. Id. at 12 § 63.
But when male tester #2 called Kelly to confirm thgpointment, as Kelly
had instructed him to do, Hg never answered the phone or returned the
tester’s voicemailsld. at 13 11 6469. Kelly’s initial response to matester
#2 thus does not undermine plaintiff's allegatidgrat Kelly made housing
unavailable to the male testers while showiagailable unitsat 4233
Fontainebleau Drivéo the female testers
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testers. First, plaintiff assers thatwhenfemale tester#2 and #3 initially
called Kelly, hevolunteered that althoughpartment 7 was no longer
available, he could show thenpartment 34 Secondthree days after Kelly
indicated tomaletester #3that no units at 4233 FdaineblealDrive were
available, hallegedlycontactedemale teste#2 againto communicate that
apartment 3 was still availabRe. And third, a new female tester alkdjy
contacted Kelly after Kelly told male tester #3 thna units were available,
and Kelly returned the female tester’s call andeakker to call him bac#
More generallyplaintiff's allegations—which the Court must accept as
true at this stage ohe proceedingspresenta pattern otreating the male
and female testers differently with respect to élvailability of rental units
According to plaintiff's allegationstiis evident thatduring the time period
in which the first three tests were caraded, there waat least onavailable
apartmento rent at 4233 Fotainebleau DrivePlaintiff alleges that irrach
of the first three dsts, Kelly responded promptlg thefemale testers and
arranged for them to view an available unitutBor each déthe three male

testers, Kellyeither did not returnhteir phone calls, did not confirm thei

94 Id. at 12 19 662; 14 |1 7273.
95 Id.at 15 1 81.
96 Id. 9 8283.
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appointmentsor misrepesented the availability of thenits?” These faatal
allegationsare sufficient to state a violation of § 3604(e5ee42 U.S.C. §
3604 (a) (prohibiting a landlord froffiefus[ing] to negotiate for the sale or
rental of, or otherwise make unavailable or dendweelling to any person
because of. . sex”);Lincoln, 340 F.3d aR86 & 29%8.

Defendants argue that to assume Kelly treategl male and female
testers differently because of their sex is “pupeculation.?® While it may
be speculative to assume thanhe instance of differenal treatment
evidences discriminatory intent, the patn plaintiff allegesmoves its
allegationdrom speculative tplausible.lgbal, 556 U.S. at 678 (a parbyust
plead “sufficient factubmatter, accepted as true dtate a claim to relighat
is plausible on its face(internal quotation omittd)). And plaintiff's
contentionthat Kelly had a diseminatory animus is bolstered by the
numerousother allegationgelated to plaintiffs rental practicé8. For
instance a former leasing agent for Kelly’s propertegtegedly told plaintiff
that Kelly prefers to rent to “young, skinny, whigrls.1°0 Plaintiff further

alleges that after it filed its complaint, Ketold a newspaper reportéhnat

o7 Id. at 11 ] 5657, 1213 19 6369, 1415 | 7980.
98 R.Doc.91at 7.

99 SeeR. Doc. 1 at €9.

100 |d.at7 19 27
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for one of his properties, he “likes to keep ithvjust girls.201 When viewing

plaintiffs allegations as a whole, it is plausiltleat the testersex was a
significant factormaoativating Kelly. See Wood®rake 667 F.2d at 1202
(“Plaintiff need only prove that [the protectedittavas one significant factor
in defendant’s dealings . . . to establish a violatof the Fair Housing Act.”)

Plaintiffs factualallegations aresufficient to state a claim under 8
3604(a)

b. 42 U.S.C.§3604(band La. R.S. §51:2606(A)(2)

It is unlawful underg 3604 (b) to “discriminate against any person in
the terms, conditions, or privileges of sale ortedrof a dwelling, onin the
provision of services or facilities in connectivimerewith, because of race,
color, religion, sex, familial status, or natiormigin.” 42 U.S.C. § 3604(b).
A landlord can violate this provision by placingffdrent application or
closing requirements on prospective tenants becatissgrotected traitSee
United States v. Pelzer Realty Co., |84 F.2d 438, 443 (5th Cir. 1973)
(defendant violated FHAy placing different requirements on waiver of
closing osts for black and white buyerd)nited States v. CollierNo. 08&
686, 2010 WL 3881381, at *9 (W.D. La. Sept. 28, @D1“Instituting

different requirements for prospective purchasegsanse of [a protected

101 R. Doc. 24 at 1819 | 109.
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trait] can be a violation of Sectio®3604(b)”). Several federadircuits have
held that a plaintiff canalsostate a claim under this provision by alleging
that a landlord’s sexual harassment created a ledsbiusing environment
because such harassment is discrimination that autsow different terms,
conditions, or privileges orhe use of a dwellingSee Quigley v. Winteb98
F.3d 938, 94647 (8th Cir. 2010)PiCenso v. Cisnerqg96 F.3d 1004, 1008
09 (7th Cir. 1996)Honce v. Vigil 1 F.3d 1085, 10880 (10th Cir. 1993).
Here, plaintiff states a violation oiis provision under both theories.
Plaintiff alleges that when female tester totired a unitt 7927 Birch
Street, Kelly told her that she was “an all growm woman” who was “too
pristine and together” to live at that propetty. When female tester #4
asked about the application procdss renting theunit, Kelly allegedly
responded that she need only fillout an appligatand that he would forego
a credit check because she was a “grown woman”idoked like she was
valedictorian at her collegé? But when male tester #4 askatklly a
similar question abowt unit at the same propertelly allegedly respnded
that the tester would haveéo present his driver’'s license, proof of

employment, his current lease, and a deposit cfoeck950 104 Plaintiffthus

102 R.Doc.1at 16 1 89.
103 |d. 91
104 |d.at 1718 71101
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assertshat Kelly placedlifferent conditions on the application materidie
femaleand male testensereto sulmit for thesame rental unjtin violation
of § 3604(b).SeePelzer Realty Co., Inc484 F.2d at43; Collier, 2010 WL
3881381, at9.

It is true, as defendants point o9%,that when taken in isolation,
Kelly's comments to female ster #4 about her appearance midie
construed as partlgbout her financial statusUnder this interpretatign
Kelly’s willingness to forego the female tester’s credieéck, but not the male
tester’s, was not because of their sex, but becatibés perceptions about
their ability to afford the apartment But to find that Kelly violated §
3604 (b) a jury would not havéo concludehat sexal prejudice “dominated
[his] mind during the negotiationsPelzer Realty Co., Inc484 F.2d a#143.
The amlicants’ sex need only béne significant factor” Kelly considered
when placing different conditions on tiheapplications Id. (finding a
violation of 8 3604(b) even thoughhe court did not “doubt that
[defendant’s] primary goal was to make money, notviolate the Fair
Housing Act”). And when analyzing defendants’ motidm dismiss, the
Court mustdraw all reasonable farences in favor ofplaintiff, the

nonmoving party See Lormand565 F.3dat 232.

105 SeeR. Doc. 20 at 2.
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When applying these standardlheallegationthat Kelly told female
tester #4 that he would forego her credit checkalnse she was ‘@rown
woman”is enough to state a plausible claim for relief eng3604(b) First,
this alleged statement specifically isolates femealer #45 sex as a factor
in Kelly’s decision. Cf. Hood v. Popge627 F. App’x 295, 299 (5th Cir. 2015)
(dismissing allegation when plaintiffs “alleged hatg that isolate[d] race as
a factor in [defendant’s] motivations”). Seconmaintiff has presented a
number offactual allegationshat the sex of Kelly’'s prosgéive and current
tenants significantly impacted his interactions hwithem. Viewing this
allegedstatemenin that context, and drawing all reasonable infeemnin
plaintiff's favor, it is plausible that the two tess’ sex was “one significant
factor”motivating Kellys actions.

Next, a mentioned aboveseveralcircuits have held thad landlord’s
sexual harassment of a tenant can constitdigcrimination that is
actionable undeg 3604(b) See Quigley598 F.3d aB46-47; DiCensq 96
F.3d at 1@8-09; Honce 1F.3d atl088-90. These decisions are based upon
the wellestablished principleapplied most often in the context of Title VII
employment discrimination caseshat “harassment based on sex is a form
of discrimination.”Honce 1 F.3d at 108; see alsdMeritor Sav. Bank, FSB

v. Vinson 477 U.S. 57, 64 (1986)[W]hen a supervisor sexually harasses a
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subordinate because of the subordinate’s sex,dla¢rvisor ‘discriminates’
on the basis of sex.”). These circuitsterpretation of thé&HA is consistent
with regulations promulgated by the Department afulding and Urban
Development. See24 C.F.R. 8§ 100.65(b)(7) (Section 3604(b) prohibits
“[s]ubjecting a person to harassment because .adex . . . that has the effect
of imposing differemn terms, conditions, or privileges relating to téae or
rental of a dwelling or denying or limiting servger facilities in connection
with the sale or rental of a dwelling”).

The Fifth Circuit hasot ruled whether discriminationclaim under
theFHA, like claims under Title Vllcan bepremised orsexual harassment
allegations!o¢ But in light of theseout-of-circuit precederd, and the
Supreme Court’s recognition that sexual harassmeam constitute
discrimination in thditle VII context, the Caurt finds that plaintiff can state
a claim under § 3604 (b) with allegations of sexualdssment.

Courts applyhe Title VIl sexual harassment standarfbs these claims
under the FHA See Honcel F.3d at 1089.Under Title VII, there are two

distinct cdegories of sexual harassment: “quid pro quaid hostile

106 Other district courts in Louisiana and Texasve followedtheseout-
of-circuit precedergand ruled that it canSee, e.gDoe v. DuckworthNo.
11-2963, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 113287, at-6&(E.D. La. Aug. 12, 2013);
Baker v. Waterford Square Homeowners As®No. 00354, 2002 WL
1461735, at *3 (N.D. Tex. July 2, 2002).
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environment harassmentd. Plaintiffargues that its allegatioribat Kelly
sexually harassed one of his tengfiBsC.,” are sufficient to state a claim that
Kelly created ahostile housing envonment? This type of claim is
“actionable when the offensive behavior interfewsth [a tenant’sjuse and
enjoyment of the premises.”ld. at 1090. “The harassment must be
sufficiently severe or pervasive to alter the cdmodhis of the housing
arrangenent.” Id. (internal quotation omitted). This finding “can be
determined only bylooking at all the circumstances, [including] the
frequency of the discriminatory conduct; its setgriand whether it is
physially threatening or humiliating[lJor a mereoffensive utterance.”
DiCensq 96 F.3d at 1008Allegations of “isolated or trivial” harassmentea
not sufficient to state a claimHonce 1 F.3d at 1089Finally, “[e]vidence of
harassment of other female tenants is relevant”atmther tenant’s
allegations.ld.

Kelly’s alleged harassment of B.C. was sufficierdévere and pervasive
to alter the conditions of her housing arrangemdrlaintiff alleges thafl)
Kelly grabbed B.C.’s buttocks without her consent wheeythet fa her to

sign her leasés (2) Kelly told B.C.during this meeting that hreturned her

107 R. Doc. 14 at 1317.
108 R.Doc.1lat 8 { 38.
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callabout the apartmepnnlybecause she sounded attractive over the phone
and that he would not have rented to her if he kadwn she had a
husband©and (3)Kelly “peered into [B.C.'shpartment windows when she
was home and repeatedly entered her apartment witiMarning and
without her consentjncluding once while she was in the show#@r.

These allegations are similar to the oneQungley, where the Eighth
Circuit upheld a jury verdict finding that the defeard created a hostile
housing environment. There, the plaintiff tesuffidhat her landlord

subjected her to unwanted touching on two occasiomade

sexually suggestive comments, rubbed his genitafioint of her,

placed several middle of the night phone callséolhome, made

repeated unannounced visits, and, on one occasgibile [the

landlord]lay on[the plaintiffs] couch, had to be told to leave her
home at least three times before he complied.

Quigley, 598 F.3d at 947The court concluded that the landlord’s behavior
amounted to discrimination because it “‘interfereithwthe plaintif's] use
and enjoyment of her homeld. Here,plaintiff similarly allegesthat Kelly
touched B.C. inappropriatelynade sexually suggestive comments, and
repeatedlyentered her home without her consent, includingeomnken B.C.
was in the shower.Theseallegations are nomere“isolated” instances of

harassment. Cf. DiCensg 96 F.3d atl00809 (one discrete instance of

109 |d.at9 11 3940.
110 |d. 41
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harassment not sufficient to create a hostile hogignvironment)Honce
1 F.3d at 1090 (allegations that landlord askedplaéntiff to “accompany
him socially on three occasiohsdid not createa hostile housing
environment).

Finally, the allegations with respect to B.Ghould be viewed in the
context of plaintiffsother allegations that Kelly’s behaviafas so egregious
that hecaused multiple female tenants to break theisdsaand vacate their
apartments! See Honcel F.3d at 1089 (“Evidence of harassment of other
female tenants is relevant to plaintiff's claim.”ppecifically, Kelly’s former
leasing agent allegegtold plaintiff that Kelly harassed several of iesnale
tenants by making sexual propositions, enteringrtapartments without
consent, requesting dates, and making multiple-tagdt phone callg’?
“‘A.B.,” one of Kelly’s former tenants, also alleggdold plaintiff that Kelly
repeatedly let himself into her apartment withoet konsent, asked her for
dates, and told her he would reduce her rent ifssdtdnim up with one of her

friends13 Kelly's actions allegedly caused A.B. to break lesase andnove

w |d.at7 930,87 37.
12 |d. 9 29.
13 |d. at 8 1 3536.
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out of her apartmeni* Viewing all of these allgations togetherplaintiff
states alaim that Kelly createa hostile housing environmefdr B.C.
c. 42U.S.C.83604)jand La.R.S.851:2606(A)(3)

Section 3604(c) makes it illegal to “make, print,publish, or cause to
be made, printed, or published any notice, statepmradvertisement, with
respect to the sale or rental of a dwelling thadicates any preference,
limitation, or discrimination based on race, cologligion, sex, handicap,
familial status, or national origin, or an intention tonake any such
preference, limitation, or discrimination.”42 U.S.C. § 3604(c) The
prohibitions in this section “apply to all writtear oral notices or statements
by a person engaged in the sale or rental of aldwel 24 C.F.R8100.75(b)
(emphasis added¥eeCollier, 2010 WL 3881381, at *10 (oral statement to
real estate agent indicating preference for rentiogvhites constituted
violation of§ 3604(c). Plaintiff has stated a claim under this provision.

Plaintiff must establish three elements to stat®mkation of § 3604(c)
that(1l) Kelly made a statement; (2) the statement was made twgpect to
the sale or rental of a dwellp” and (3) the statement indicated a preference
based on protected class membershifhite v. U.S. Dept of Hous. @rban

Dev, 475 F.3d 898, 90405 (7th Cir.2007) (citing 42 U.S.C.§8 3604(c);

14 Id. 7 37.
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Hunter v. WilliamsonNo.07-7970, 2008 WL 2599110, at *E(D. La. June
25,2008) Whether a statement indicates a preference fomgnbd one sex
over another is an “objective standard” that does tiake into account the
subjective intent of the speakeW hitg 475 F.3d at 90®6; La. Acorn Fair
Hous., Incv. Canal Street Dev. CorpNo. 963684, 1997 WL 598470, at *2
(E.D. La. Sept. 23, 1997) (noting that a plaintifeed “not establish
discriminatory intent to prove a violation” of tiprovision (citing Ragin v.
N.Y. Times C0.923 F.2d 995, 999 (2d Cid991)). Courtsinsteadask
whether the oral statement in question would suggesan “ordinary
listener” that one sex is “preferred or disfavoredVhite 475 F.3dat 905
06.

Plaintiffs complaintcontains twostatemend atributed to Kelly that
cansupporta § 3604(c)claim. First, plaintiff alleges that when Kelly me
with B.C.to review and sign a leaselly told herthat hereturned hemitial
call inquiring about the apartmemndnly because he “believed she was
attractive based on the soundhdr voice.’> This allegedstatement was
“with respect to the sale or rental of a dwellirggcause Kelly made it during
a meeting to sign a rental lease. 42 U.S.C. 8§ 36Q4¢€e Stewart v. Furtgn

774 F.2d 706, 70D8 & 710 (6th Cir. 1985)defendant’sstatement to

115 |d.at 89 11 3839.
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prospective renter during inspection of rental uthiat he “did not allow
black tenants”violate@ 3604(c). And an“ordinary listener” could construe
Kelly’'s allegedstatement as an indicatidhathe preferred to rent to wome
because hexplicitly stated that his sense of B.C.’s attraetiess was the only
reason he returned her caCourts have found that statements that are far
less explicitabout the speaker’s preferencan violate 8 3604(c)See, e.g.
Ragin 923 F.2d att000-02 (denying motion to dismiss because a trier of
fact could conclude thdtousingadvertisement using onhite models may
be read byn ordinary readeas indicatingpreference for white rentey.s
Second, Kelly’'s alleged statements to female tegedurng her tour
of an apartment at 7927 Birch Street can also suppoclaim under§
3604(c) Kelly allegedlytold the tester that she was algrown up woman”
who was “too pristine and together” to live at thpartment!® He also
allegedly stated that he would forego her credeahbecause she appeared
to be a “grown woman!” These statements were with respect to the rental
of a dwelling because Kelly made themhile showing an available unit &
prospective tenant See Stewart774 F.2d at 70-D8; Jancik v.Dept of

Hous. & Urban Dev,. 44 F.3d 553, 557 (7th Cir. 1995)And & already

116 |d.at 16 1 89.
17 Id. 791
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discussed, it is plausible on its face tHamale teste#4’'s sex was one
significant factorfor why Kelly loosened her application requirements
Likewise, an “ordirary listener” couldplausiblyinfer that by isolating hesex
as a reason for placing different terms and cood#ion her application,
Kelly was indicating a preference for renting tomen. SeeRagin 923 F.2d
at 100002;see also Iniestra v. Cliflvarren Investments, InB886 F. Supp.
2d 1161, 1169 (C.D. Cal. 2012) (apartment complalkes found facially
discriminatory on the basis of familial status ilation of§ 3604(h also
constituted statements in violation®8604(c).

Plaintiff arguesthat two other statements attributed to Kelly can
constitute violations of this provision: (1) hideged statement to A.B. that
he “only rents to women;”and (2) his statemena toewspaper reporter that
he “likes to keep it with just girls” atree of hs apartment building&8 But
unlike the statements the Court finds actionaplaintiff does not allege that
either of these statements were made “with respethe sale or rental of a
dwelling.” 42 U.S.C. § 3604(c). They are instead statementaitabis
general renting practices, disconnected from a ifipesale or rental.
Plaintiff does not cite a case holding thleatchstatementgan constitute a

violation of§ 3604(c). Manyfederaldistrict courts havéen factinterpreted

118 R. Doc. 14 at 19; R. Doc. 27 a1
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this provision as craag liability only whena defendant makestatemeis

In connection with the prospective sale or rentaio available dwelling
See, e.gGourlay v. Forest Lake Estates Civic Assh of PRithey, InG.276

F. Supp. 2d 1222, 1234 (M.D. Fla. 2003) (ecoling cases) (vacated on
separate grounds).h€ Court adoptthis interpretatbn because it comports
with the statute’s plain language and purposkee42 U.S.C. § 3604(c)
(prohibiting discriminatory statements “with respég the sale or rental of
a dwelling”); United States v. Space Hunters, Indo. 001781, 2001 WL
968993, at *5 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 24, 2001) (“The purpeast Section 3604(c) is
to prevent expressions that result in the denidlafsing, not to prevent all
discriminatory expression.”)Kelly’s statements to A.B. and the newspaper
reporter may beelevant to plaintiff's allegations that the tesdesex was one
significant factor motivating Kellg actions, but the statements are not alone
violations of the FHA.

Finally, defendants arguthat plaintiff is not entitled to relief undé&r
3604 (c)because it does not allege that Kelly made anyestant to a tester
that could constitute a violation of the provisigh. First, Kelly’s alleged
statements to female tester #4 ¢arfiactconstitute a violation of § 3604(c)

But even if they couldm’ and plaintiffs claimrelied entirely on Kelly's

119 R. Doc. 91 at 10.
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alleged statements to B.C., defendants’argumentiavstill be meritless. &
already addresseg]aintiff has standing to bring thesé&ims not because
its testers suffered injuries, but because plafinself has suffered injuries
as a result of defendants’ alleged discriminatorggbices. An organization
like plaintiff is permitted to Iboing a suit alleging that defendant’s actions
toward third parties violated the FHAO0 long asthe plaintiff meetsthe
standing requirementsSee, e.g OCA-Greater Hous.867 F.3d 604Banks
v. Hous. Auth. of City of Bossier City, L.&lo. 11551, 2011 WL 459189%at
*3-4 (W.D. La. Sept. 30, 2011)it is therefore irrelevant that some of Kelly’s
alleged statementsere made to thirgparties

Because all three elements of plaintifss 3604 (c)claim are met
defendants’ motion to dismiss the claim is denied.

B. Alternative Motion to Strike

Defendantsalso move to strike eight paragraphs from plaintiffs

complaint20

120 Sedd.at 10-13;R. Doc. 1at 19 1 (alleging that former tenantsamred

a hostile environment so severe that they brokartleases, including
allegations that Kelly demanded dates, offered xchange rent for sexual
favors, and entered apartments without the tenaoissent);id. at 2 | 2
(alleging that Kelly grabbed the buttocks of a wamd@uring a meeting to
review and sign a leaseid. at 7 { 27 (alleging that Kelly’'s former leasing
agent told plaintiff that Kelly likes to rent todyng, skinny, white” girls)id.

at 8 1 36 (alleging that Kelly asked a tenant fatade and told her he would
reduce her rent if she “set him up on a date” vatfemale friend)id. § 38
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Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(f) allows thaicoto strike “from
any pleading any insufficient defense or any redamtd immaterial,
impertinent, or scandalous mattelFéd. R. Civ. P. 12(f)A motion to strike
under Rule 12(f) “is a drastic remedy to be resoteonly when required for
the purposes of justice.Augustus v. Bd. dPub. Instruction of Escambia
Cty., Fla, 306 F.2d 862, 868 (5th Cir. 196X¢e also Kader Aluminum &
Chem. Sales, Inc. v. Avondale Shipyards,,|I6¢7 F.2d 1045, 1057 (5th Cir.
1982) (“[M]otions to strike a defese are generally disfavored,”); Synergy
Mgmt., LLC v. Lego Juris A/®o. 0725892, 2008 WL 4758634, at *1 (E.D.
La. Oct. 24 2008) (“Motions to strike made under Rule 12 {® aiewed with
disfavor by the federal courts, and are infrequggthnted.”). A motion to
strike should be granted only when “the allegati@ame prejudicial to the
defendant or immaterial to the lawsudi Johnson v. HarveyNo. 963438,
1998 WL 596745, at *7 (ID. La. Sept. 8, 1998) (internal quotatiomitted).

Immateriality is established by showing that thaldnged allegations “can

(alleging that Kelly grabbed a prospective tenahtistocks during a meeting
for the tenant taeview and sign a leasey. at 9 § 41 (alleging that Kelly
entered a female tenant’s apartment without hersean while she was in
the shower)jd. at 11 § 53 (alleging that during a meeting with tefothe
female testers, Kelly “openly star[ed]” at thesters’ bodies and “nibbl[ed]
his lip” as he looked at their legsg. at 14 | 74 (alleging that while two of the
female testers viewed an apartment, Kelly forcgfalammed the door shut
to the apartment).
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have no possible bearing upon the subject mattéh@fitigation.” Bayou
Fleet P'ship v. St. Charles ParisNo. 101557, 2011 WL 2680686, at *5 (E.
La. July 8, 2011) (internal quotatiamitted).

None of theallegationsto which defendants object immaterial to
plaintiffs complant, and therefore th€ourt will not strike them First,
many of trese allegations araitical to plaintiff's claim that Kelly violated §
3604(b) of the FHA by creating a hostile housingviemnment for one
tenant. Second each of these paragraphs is relevant to plamtiff
discimination allegatims generally, because each speak&elly’s motive
in allegedly making his rental units unavailahkio men. They do so by
implying that Kelly preferred to rent to women because hesagually
attracted to themThe Court will thus nostrike these allegationsecause
they are relevant to plaintiffs claimsSeeWright & Miller, 5C Federal
Practice and Procedur& 1382 (3d ed2018) (“It is not enough that the
matter offends the sensibilities of the objectingrty if the challenged

allegations describe acts or events that are relewmtite actiorn’). 121

121 Defendants also argue that sevafdhesestatements should be struck
because they were not made by a party to this lawsud are therefore
immaterial R. Doc. 91 at12. The statements in question are Keglly's
former tenants and formdeasing agent, and recouKelly's behavior or
commaets to them See, e.g.R. Doc. 1at 7 | 27 (alleging that Kelly’'s former
leasing agent told plaintiff that Kelly likes tonmeto “young, skinny, white”
girls). Defendantsdo not cite any decision in whicbtherwise relevant

40



I[V. CONCLUSION
For the reasons stated abowefendants’ motion to dismiss and

alternativemotion to strike IDENIED.

SARAH S. VANCE
UNITED STATES DISTRCT JUDGE

statements in a complaint were deemed immaterialysbecause they were
attributed to third parties
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